FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/14/2018 12:08 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96484-0 Court of Appeals No. 49781-6-II IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of

Charles Urlacher,

Appellant/Petitioner

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 10-2-13180-4 The Honorable Judge Ronald E. Culpepper

Amended PETITION FOR REVIEW

Manek R. Mistry Jodi R. Backlund Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Charles Urlacher's years of participation in treatment enabled him to seek conditional release from the Special Commitment Center (SCC) based on a well-respected evidence-based treatment program. RP² 121-122, 408-503, 744-771; RP (12/11/15) 23, 25-29; CP 109-231, 267-270. At his trial, the jury would address two issues: (a) whether the less restrictive alternative (LRA) plan was in Mr. Urlacher's best interests, and (b) whether it was adequate to protect the community.

¹ A copy of the Opinion, entered July 3, 2018, is attached.

² The trial transcript will be referred to as "RP;" other transcript citations include the hearing date.

Pretrial litigation focused on these issues. Both parties agreed that the only published opinion addressing the "best interests" and community protection elements was "settled law." RP (9/27/16) 78; CP 420-427, 474; see In re Det. of Bergen, 146 Wn. App. 515, 527, 195 P.3d 529 (2008). Mr. Urlacher sought to present expert testimony addressing the Bergen factors, and to cross-examine the State's expert about them. RP (9/27/16) 94-96. The court refused. The judge did not allow questions on the Bergen court's definitions, instead allowing the experts to provide their own competing "working definitions" of the elements. CP 507; RP (9/27/16) 97-98.

Mr. Urlacher's conditional release plan was admitted into evidence. He presented testimony in support of his plan, including his proposed treatment provider, his current case manager, a release planning specialist, several chaperones and spiritual leaders, as well as the apartment manager where Mr. Urlacher plans to live. RP 649-787, 790-804, 825-955; Ex. 101.

He also presented the testimony of Dr. Spizman, a clinical psychologist and certified sex-offender treatment provider who worked at the Special Commitment Center for eleven years.³ RP 523-526. Dr. Spizman concluded that the proposed plan was in Mr. Urlacher's best interests and that it was adequate to protect the community. RP 533, 569, 575, 579.

³ During his tenure there, Dr. Spizman eventually rose to manage the center's forensic unit. RP 526-527.

Although he relied on the *Bergen* factors, Dr. Spizman did not mention *Bergen's* legal framework to the jury. He explained that conditional release is in a patient's "best interests" if treatment progress has made the patient "ready for the next step," or "ready to move on" to receive treatment in a community setting. RP 533-534. He opined that the proposed LRA plan will "continue to incentivize successful treatment participation." RP 575. Dr. Spizman also outlined Mr. Urlacher's planned support systems, the restrictions to be imposed, and the enforcement mechanisms that will be in place. RP 575-579. He concluded that the plan included enough safeguards to adequately protect the community. RP 579.

The State's expert, Dr. Goldberg, "just use[d] [his] own definition" of "adequate to protect the community." RP 339. According to Dr. Goldberg, adequate community protection requires the elimination of all risk.⁴ RP 358.⁵ Instead of examining the plan, Dr. Goldberg used actuarial instruments and clinical judgment to assess Mr. Urlacher's risk; based on his risk assessment, he concluded that the proposed LRA would not adequately protect the community. RP 290, 338-339.

Dr. Goldberg described "best interests" as a "fairly nebulous term," and told the jury it was not defined by statute or science. RP 316. Instead, he relied on his own clinical judgment to determine that the plan was not in Mr. Urlacher's best interests. RP 290, 315-316.

⁴ Q: [I]n your interpretation of the phrase 'adequate to protect the community,' we must make it a [zero] percent risk of re-offense; is that right?

A: Correct.

RP 358.

⁵ Mr. Urlacher requested a mistrial based on this testimony. RP 404-407.

Mr. Urlacher proposed instructions defining the "best interests" and community protection elements. CP 434, 435. The proposed instructions drew language directly from the *Bergen* case. CP 434, 435.⁶

On the "best interests" issue, Mr. Urlacher asked the court to instruct the jury "to consider whether the proposed less restrictive alternative plan properly incentivizes successful treatment participation and whether it is the appropriate next step in the Respondent's treatment." CP 434.

On the community protection issue, he proposed to instruct the jury to consider "the individual aspects of the Respondent's release plan, rather than the Respondent himself. It is not necessary that all risk be removed in order for the proposed less restrictive alternative plan to be "adequate to protect the community." CP 435.

The State objected but did not propose alternatives. RP 964-965; CP 474-475. The trial judge mused that "some kind of instruction might be useful" to explain the community protection element. RP 965. However, the court did not provide a definition, other than to say that "[i]t is not necessary that all risk be removed." CP 671. Nor did the court supply any other instruction on the issue of adequate community protection and did not define the best interests standard. CP 660-675.

During closing argument, the State's attorney told jurors that they were responsible for defining the key terms: "because best interests and adequate to protect the community are not defined in your jury instructions, you, as the trier of fact, will be the individuals who will decide

⁶ See *Bergen*, 146 Wn.App. at 529-534.

amongst yourselves how you're going to decide what that means as it applies to Mr. Urlacher." RP 1034. The prosecutor also suggested that Mr. Urlacher was "grooming" jurors to get them to accept his proposed plan. RP 1040.⁷

The jury found in favor of the State, and the court ordered that Mr. Urlacher's confinement continue indefinitely. RP 1047-1053; CP 659, 676. Mr. Urlacher appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. CP 679.

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

I. THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW AND HOLD THAT DUE PROCESS REQUIRES CONDITIONAL RELEASE FOR PATIENTS WHO CAN BE SAFELY TREATED IN THE COMMUNITY.

Washington's civil commitment scheme forces some patients to remain in total confinement even if they could safely and successfully receive treatment in the community. The State can defeat an otherwise-perfect release plan by convincing jurors that it is somehow not in the detainee's "best interests." This paternalistic standard violates substantive due process.

The substantive component of the right to due process has "fundamental significance in defining the rights of the person." *Lawrence v.*Texas, 539 U.S. 558, 565, 123 S.Ct. 2472, 156 L.Ed.2d 508 (2003); see also Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 65, 120 S.Ct. 2054, 147 L.Ed.2d 49 (2000). Substantive due process goes beyond mere procedural protections: it limits the government's ability to operate in certain realms. *Lawrence*,

⁷ Earlier, the judge had explicitly prohibited the State from asking Dr. Spizman if Mr. Urlacher was grooming the jury. RP 638. The question originated with the jury. CP 683.

539 U.S. at 578; *Troxel*, 530 U.S. at 65. The "best interests" standard oversteps these limits.

A statute can "create due process liberty interests where none would have otherwise existed." *Bergen*, 146 Wn. App. at 525. The statutory provisions authorizing conditional release create such a constitutionally protected interest. *Id.*, at 527. The "best interests" standard improperly interferes with this protected liberty interest.

Courts apply strict scrutiny to determine whether the statutory procedures governing conditional release are "narrowly tailored to serve a compelling state interest." *Id.* The state's compelling interest is in "treating sex predators and protecting society from their actions." *In re Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 26, 857 P.2d 989 (1993). The "best interests" standard does not serve that compelling interest.⁸

Strict scrutiny requires the government to use the least restrictive means of achieving the government's purpose. *See United States v. Play-boy Entm't Grp., Inc.*, 529 U.S. 803, 813, 120 S.Ct. 1878, 146 L.Ed.2d 865 (2000) (applying strict scrutiny in the free speech context). Failure to use the least restrictive means renders a statute unconstitutional. *Id.; see also Ariz. Right to Life PAC v. Bayless*, 320 F.3d 1002, 1011 (9th Cir. 2003); *Wygant v. Jackson Bd. of Education*, 476 U.S. 267, 280 n. 6, 106 S.Ct. 3320, 92 L.Ed.2d 728 (1986).

⁸ The "best interests" provisions set forth in Chapter 71.09 do not define or limit the phrase. *See* RCW 71.09.094(2); RCW 71.09.090; RCW 71.09.096. The *Bergen* court believed the undefined phrase relates only to the patient's treatment needs. *See Bergen*, 146 Wn. App. at 529. This limitation does not appear in the statutory language.

Washington's conditional release scheme violates substantive due process. The statute denies conditional release to any patient who can be safely and successfully treated in the community if jurors decide—without any guidance—that a less restrictive alternative to total confinement is not in the patient's "best interests." RCW 71.09.094(2); *see also* RCW 71.09.090; RCW 71.09.096.

The "best interests" requirement is not the least restrictive means of meeting the government's compelling interest in "treating sex predators and protecting society from their actions." *Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 26. The "best interests" standard does not promote treatment or protect society. Nor does it promote any compelling justification independent of treatment or protection. *Playboy*, 529 U.S. at 813. This requirement fails strict scrutiny, and thus violates substantive due process. *Id.; Right to Life*, 320 F.3d at 1011; *Wygant*, 476 U.S. at 280 n. 6.

There is no state objective that warrants forcing citizens to live in harmony with their best interests. *See O'Connor v. Donaldson*, 422 U.S. 563, 575, 95 S. Ct. 2486, 2493, 45 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1975) ("[T]he mere presence of mental illness does not disqualify a person from preferring his home to the comforts of an institution.") Accordingly, the "best interests" standard cannot be part of a narrowly tailored statutory scheme.

II. THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW TO DETERMINE THE PROPER STANDARD OF CLARITY FOR INSTRUCTIONS IN CIVIL COMMITMENT CASES.

Jury instructions in criminal cases must be manifestly clear. This same standard should apply to civil commitment proceedings, including

conditional release trials. The Supreme Court should accept review and require manifestly clear instructions in all civil commitment cases.

A. Appellate courts have fashioned a heightened standard for instructional clarity in criminal cases.

In criminal cases, instructions must make legal standards "manifestly apparent to the average juror." *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 864, 215 P.3d 177 (2009) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). To determine whether an instruction is misleading, courts look at "the way a reasonable juror *could have* interpreted the instruction." *State v. Miller*, 131 Wn.2d 78, 90, 929 P.2d 372 (1997), *as amended on reconsideration in part* (Feb. 7, 1997) (emphasis added) (citing *Sandstrom v. Montana*, 442 U.S. 510, 514, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 61 L.Ed.2d 39 (1979)).

The Court of Appeals erroneously suggests that the "manifestly apparent" standard is limited to criminal cases involving self-defense and double jeopardy. Opinion, p. 10 n. 7. This is incorrect; the "manifestly apparent" standard has also been applied to the elements instruction for an offense (*State v. Smith*, 174 Wn. App. 359, 361, 298 P.3d 785 (2013)), to unanimity instructions (*State v. Watkins*, 136 Wn. App. 240, 243, 148 P.3d 1112 (2006)), to instructions on insanity (*State v. Applin*, 116 Wn. App. 818, 825, 67 P.3d 1152 (2003)), and to instructions defining dominion and control in possession cases. *State v. Cantabrana*, 83 Wn. App. 204, 208, 921 P.2d 572 (1996).

The Court of Appeals ignored these authorities. The "manifestly apparent" standard reduces the risk that jurors will reach a verdict based

on an erroneous interpretation of an ambiguous instruction.⁹ The standard applies in criminal cases and should likewise apply in civil commitment proceedings.

B. The government violates procedural due process when it prolongs civil commitment by means of a jury trial with insufficiently clear instructions.

Patients committed to the special commitment center have a protected liberty interest in conditional release. *Bergen*, 146 Wn. App. at 527. Civil commitment procedures must comport with procedural due process. *Addington v. Texas*, 441 U.S. 418, 425, 99 S.Ct. 1804, 60 L.Ed.2d 323 (1979); U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. To avoid constitutional violations, trial courts should provide very clear instructions to juries considering conditional liberty for patients who have been civilly committed.

The process due under the Fourteenth Amendment depends on a balance of (1) the private interest affected by governmental action; (2) the risk of erroneous deprivation of that interest under current procedures; and (3) the government's interest, including any fiscal or administrative burden. *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 335, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976)). The balance of interests in civil commitment trials favor application of a heightened standard for instructional clarity.

A trial with unclear instructions is a flawed procedure. Arbitrarily prolonging commitment based on a flawed procedure violates procedural

⁹ Conditional release alleviates the "massive" deprivation of liberty inflicted by civil commitment. *See In re Det. of Hawkins*, 169 Wn.2d 796, 801, 238 P.3d 1175 (2010) ("massive" deprivation of liberty requires narrow construction of statute). Because of this, both procedural and substantive due process require application of the *Kyllo* and *Miller* standards to conditional release trials such as Mr. Urlacher's.

due process. The procedural flaw can be fixed by requiring instructions that are manifestly apparent to the average juror. The Court of Appeals' suggestion that instructional clarity has no relation to due process implies that the fairness of the trial is not subject to review under the constitution. *See* Opinion, pp. 11-12.

In civil commitment cases, procedural due process requires instructions that do more than allow each side to argue its theory of the case; the instructions must not merely fail to mislead or clear the low bar of "properly" informing the jury. *Cf. Wilcox v. Basehore*, 187 Wn.2d 772, 782, 389 P.3d 531 (2017) (outlining the standard for reviewing jury instructions in civil cases that do not involve a massive curtailment of liberty). Instead, as in criminal cases, jury instructions in civil commitment proceedings must make the law "manifestly apparent" to the average juror and preclude any possible misunderstandings by such a juror. *See Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 864; *Miller*, 131 Wn.2d at 90. The balance of interests under *Mathews* requires the highest standard of clarity for jury instructions in civil commitment proceedings.

The first *Mathews* factor involves the private interest at stake. A patient's individual interest weighs in favor of a high standard of clarity, because civil commitment involves a "massive" curtailment of liberty. *Hawkins*, 169 Wn.2d at 801. Patients have a significant interest in transitioning from total confinement—living in a secure island facility not unlike a prison—to a less restrictive alternative in a private apartment in the

community. The first *Mathews* factor thus merits greater clarity in instructions, to ensure that the elements and burden of proof are unmistakable.

The second factor—the risk of error—supports the higher standard as well. Instructions may be clear "to the trained legal mind" without adequately communicating an important legal standard to the average juror. *State v. Fischer*, 23 Wn.App. 756, 759, 598 P.2d 742 (1979) (cited with approval by *State v. Allery*, 101 Wn.2d 591, 595, 682 P.2d 312 (1984)). Any miscommunication regarding the correct legal standard has the potential to result in an erroneous finding, maintaining total confinement for a person who should be released to a less restrictive setting.

This potential for error supports the "manifestly apparent" standard in the criminal context. *See Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 864; *see also State v. Borsheim*, 140 Wn. App. 357, 366, 165 P.3d 417 (2007). No lesser standard should apply in conditional release trials, where the massive curtailment of liberty is based on predictions of the future rather than on past criminal conduct.

Finally, the third factor – the state's interest - also weighs heavily in favor of applying a heightened standard for clarity in civil commitment proceedings. The state has a "compelling interest both in treating sex predators and protecting society from their actions." *In re Det. of Morgan*, 180 Wn.2d 312, 322, 330 P.3d 774 (2014) (quoting *Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 26). This interest is furthered by jury instructions that clearly and unmistakably communicate the applicable law.

Jurors who misinterpret their instructions may well authorize conditional release for a predator who should remain in total confinement. Alternatively, ambiguity in the court's instructions may unnecessarily burden the government with the cost of maintaining a patient in total confinement when safe treatment in the community is possible.

The state's interest thus aligns with the interests of residents seeking conditional release. Furthermore, there are no financial or administrative costs associated with ensuring that jury instructions are manifestly clear and capable of only one (correct) interpretation.

All three *Mathews* factors favor application of a heightened standard of clarity for instructions in conditional release trials. *Mathews*, 424 U.S. at 335. As in criminal cases, instructions in civil commitment proceedings must make the law "manifestly apparent" to the average juror. *See Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 864. Any reasonable juror, upon reading the instructions, must reach only one conclusion as to their meaning. *See Miller*, 131 Wn.2d at 90.

C. The government violates substantive due process when ambiguous jury instructions result in denial of conditional release for patients who could be safely treated in the community.

Substantive due process requires that civil commitment statutes be narrowly drawn to serve compelling state interests. *State v. McCuistion*, 174 Wn.2d 369, 387, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012). The government must use the least restrictive means of meeting those compelling interests. *See Playboy*, 529 U.S. at 813 (applying strict scrutiny in the free speech context). Failure to use the least restrictive means renders a statute unconstitutional. *Id.*;

see also Right to Life, 320 F.3d at 1011; Wygant, 476 U.S. at 280 n. 6.

Conditional release furthers this constitutional requirement: ""[m]ental health treatment, if it is to be anything other than a sham, must give the confined person the hope that if he gets well enough to be safely released, then he will be transferred to some less restrictive alternative." Lieb, R, "After Hendricks: Defining Constitutional Treatment for Washington State's Civil Commitment Program," Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 989, p. 485 (2003)¹⁰ (quoting *Turay v. Weston*, May 2000 Order, No. C91–664–WD (W.D.Wash.1994) (*Turay* I))

In conditional release cases, instructions that are not manifestly clear do not meet substantive due process. If "a reasonable juror could have interpreted the instruction[s]" to relieve the State of its burden, the patient will remain in total confinement even if conditional release would meet the state's goals of ensuring public safety and providing treatment.

Total confinement of a patient eligible for conditional release violates the patient's right to substantive due process. Total confinement is not the least restrictive means of achieving the government's interests. *See McCuistion*, 174 Wn.2d at 387; *see also Playboy*, 529 U.S. at 813; *Right to Life*, 320 F.3d at 1011; *Wygant*, 476 U.S. at 280 n. 6.

Trials conducted with instructions that do not meet a high standard of clarity and thereby permit total confinement of residents who should be conditionally released are not narrowly tailored. *See McCuistion*, 174

¹⁰ Available at: http://www.wsipp.wa.gov/Reports/93 (accessed 11/6/18).

¹¹ Miller, 131 Wn.2d at 90.

Wn.2d at 387. The higher standards for clarity used in criminal cases must apply in conditional release trials. Heightened standards for clarity will reduce the risk of error, ensuring that residents who can safely transition to less restrictive alternative placements do not remain in total confinement.

Substantive due process requires courts to provide instructions that make the law manifestly apparent to the average juror. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 864. If "a reasonable juror could have interpreted" the court's instructions in a manner that denied conditional release to an eligible resident, a new trial must be granted. *Miller*, 131 Wn.2d at 90.

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