FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/24/2019 2:42 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96484-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

In re the Detention of:

CHARLES URLACHER,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Kristie Barham Assistant Attorney General WSBA #32764 Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 OID #91094

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

The Court of Appeals properly determined that the jury instructions on "adequate to protect the community" did not relieve the State of its burden of proof. Urlacher's assertion that jurors "had no way of knowing that the community protection element required the State to prove the plan

inadequate" is not supported by the record. *See* Pet. at 19-20. The trial court explicitly instructed the jury that the State had the burden to prove "beyond a reasonable doubt" that "the proposed less restrictive alternative placement plan does not include conditions that will adequately protect the community." CP at 668. Jurors are presumed to follow the trial court's instructions. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that this instruction "clearly placed the burden of proof on the State" and "did not relieve the State of its burden of proof." *Urlacher*, 427 P.3d at 672.

In Urlacher's trial, the trial court declined to instruct jurors that "adequate to protect the community" required them to consider the individual aspects of the plan, rather than Urlacher himself. RP at 966; see CP at 435, 457, 671.7 Consistent with Bergen, the Court of Appeals properly recognized that a definitional instruction was not necessary because each word in the phrase is commonly used and understood and should be given its ordinary meaning. See Bergen, 146 Wn. App. at 520, 532-34. In Bergen, the court held that principles of statutory construction did not support giving Bergen's proposed instruction on "adequate to

 $^{^{7}}$ At Urlacher's request, the trial court instructed the jury that it is not necessary that all risk be removed in order for the proposed LRA to be "adequate to protect the community." *Id.*

protect the community" and that the phrase should be given "its ordinary meaning, which is not the definition Bergen proposed." *Id.* at 534. The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with *Bergen*.

The Court of Appeals applied well-settled case law in rejecting Urlacher's claim that the jury instructions violated his due process rights. The requirements of due process usually are met when the jury is informed of all elements and instructed that the State must prove each element beyond a reasonable doubt. *Scott*, 110 Wn.2d at 690. Nothing in the constitution requires that the meanings of particular terms used in an instruction be specifically defined. *Id.* at 691.

The decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with *Bergen* or any other court of appeals case. Contrary to Urlacher's assertion, *Bergen* does not "forbid" consideration of risk in evaluating whether a proposed LRA plan fails to include conditions adequate to protect the community. *Bergen* held that the phrase "adequate community safety" is not unconstitutionally vague and rejected Bergen's proposed instruction defining it as "a risk of reoffense less than 50 percent." *Bergen*, 146 Wn. App. at 532-33. Although the *Bergen* court determined that the *focus* of "adequate community safety" is on the plan and not the person, nothing in the court's decision indicates that evidence of risk must be excluded as part of the analysis. *Id.* at 532-34. Rather, the *Bergen* court

concluded that it would have been error to instruct the jury that the phrase related to "risk of reoffense *rather than* the sufficiency of the proposed LRA." *Id.* at 533-34 (emphasis added).

Although the focus is on the plan, it is not at the exclusion of all other factors. Even Urlacher's expert, Dr. Spizman, testified that he considers a person's ability to manage his risk in determining whether the LRA is adequate to protect the community. RP at 575. In fact, Dr. Spizman testified in detail about factors associated with Urlacher's risk at trial. See RP at 534-64, 642-43. Urlacher incorrectly asserts that the State's expert, Dr. Goldberg, testified that "the plan's adequacy specifically referred to Mr. Urlacher's risk[.]" See Pet. at 19 (citing RP at 290, 338-39). On the contrary, Dr. Goldberg testified that he considered a variety of factors in determining whether the LRA included conditions adequate to protect the community, including the specific course of treatment, the housing plan, and the level of supervision. RP at 338-51. To the extent Urlacher argues that Dr. Goldberg's reliance on risk as part of this analysis was error, Urlacher intentionally elicited this testimony and any claimed error is invited. See RP at 358-68.8 "The invited error doctrine prohibits a party from setting up an error in the trial court then complaining of it on

⁸ Urlacher asked Dr. Goldberg two leading questions based on information from his prior deposition in order to elicit his opinion on risk. *See* RP at 358-59, 404-05.

appeal." In re Tortorelli, 149 Wn.2d 82, 94, 66 P.3d 606 (2003).

Finally, the State accurately informed jurors in closing argument that it was their role to decide what "adequate to protect the community" means as it applies to Urlacher. RP 1033-34. This is a proper argument, as it is the jury's role to decide whether the facts presented meet a particular standard. *See Bergen*, 146 Wn. App. at 533.

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with *Bergen* and established case law, and Urlacher's petition does not raise an issue of substantial public interest or of constitutional proportions.

D. The "Best Interest" Standard Satisfies Substantive Due Process

Although the *Urlacher* court did not address Urlacher's argument that the "best interest" standard fails to satisfy substantive due process, he Court of Appeals previously rejected this same argument in *Bergen*. See Bergen, 146 Wn. App. at 523-29, review denied, 165 Wn.2d 1041 (2009). In Bergen, the Court of Appeals held that the "best interest" standard satisfies substantive due process because it is directly related to the State's compelling interest in treating dangerous sex offenders and protecting society. Despite Urlacher's claims to the contrary, the "best

⁹ The Court of Appeals did not reach Urlacher's claims regarding the "best interest" standard because it affirmed on the community protection element and noted that the State was only required to prove that the LRA was not in his best interest *or* did not include conditions adequate to protect the community. *Urlacher*, 427 P.3d at 669 n.6.

interest" standard does not pose a constitutional problem. *Bergen* properly determined that the "best interest" standard is directly related to an SVP's dangerousness and unique, long-term treatment needs. *Bergen*, 146 Wn. App. at 527-29. There is no basis for this Court to revisit this issue.

At an LRA trial, the statute requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that conditional release to any proposed LRA either (1) is not in the best interest of the person; or (2) does not include conditions that would adequately protect the community. RCW 71.09.090(3)(d). Statutes are presumed constitutional, and the burden is on the challenger to prove unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Det. of Danforth*, 173 Wn.2d 59, 70, 264 P.3d 783 (2011). A facial challenge must be rejected unless there is "no set of circumstances" in which the statute can be constitutionally applied. *State v. McCuistion*, 174 Wn.2d 369, 389, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012). Urlacher has not met this high burden.

In reviewing substantive due process challenges to the SVP statute, this Court has recognized that "the State has a compelling interest both in treating sex predators and protecting society from their actions." In re Young, 122 Wn.2d 1, 26, 857 P.2d 989 (1993), superseded by statute on other grounds. Urlacher remains an SVP, and thus "likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence." RCW 71.09.020(18). This Court has consistently upheld the SVP statutory scheme against substantive due

process challenges because it requires the State to prove both mental illness and dangerousness. *Id.* at 27; *McCuistion*, 174 Wn.2d at 387-92.

By seeking an LRA placement, Urlacher does not challenge his classification as an SVP or contest that he continues to be mentally ill and dangerous. See CP at 666 (previous finding that Urlacher is an SVP is not an issue in LRA trial). Rather, Urlacher seeks only an alternative placement as an SVP. "The LRA determination is a separate inquiry and is focused on whether the SVP—who has already been found to be dangerous and mentally ill—should be transferred to an LRA that will continue to serve the statutory objectives of treating the SVP and keeping the community safe." Bergen, 146 Wn. App. at 528. Because Urlacher remains an SVP, the State maintains a compelling interest in ensuring his treatment and protecting society.

In *Bergen*, the court applied strict scrutiny and concluded that the "best interest" standard is "directly related to the SVP's dangerousness and mental illness and is narrowly tailored to serve the State's compelling interest in appropriately treating dangerous sex offenders." *Bergen*, 146 Wn. App. at 527-29. Even under the heightened standard of review applied in *Bergen*, the "best interest" standard satisfies substantive due process because it is narrowly tailored and applies only to individuals who are found beyond a reasonable doubt to be both mentally ill and dangerous

and who are in need of continued treatment for the protection of society. The "best interest" standard "accounts for the inherent dangerousness of SVPs and their unique, extended treatment needs[.]" *Id.* at 529.

Urlacher's reliance on *O'Connor v. Donaldson*, 422 U.S. 563, 575, 95 S. Ct. 2486, 45 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1975) is misplaced. *O'Connor* involved the involuntary civil commitment of a *nondangerous* mentally ill person who was not receiving treatment and held that the State cannot constitutionally confine a person who is "dangerous to no one and can live safely in freedom." *Id.* at 573-75. It does not apply here, where Urlacher remains committed as an SVP and continues to be both mentally ill and dangerous, a finding he does not challenge.

There is nothing in Urlacher's petition raising an issue of public importance. The Court of Appeals did not address this issue and nothing in its decision conflicts with *Bergen* or any other court of appeals case. In addition, this Court has already held that the commitment process satisfies substantive due process. The "best interest" standard achieves the dual goals of protecting society and providing continued treatment to Urlacher, who remains a sexually violent predator.

E. The Court of Appeals Applied Well-Established Case Law in Rejecting Urlacher's Claims of Prosecutorial Misconduct

The Court of Appeals applied well-established case law in rejecting

Urlacher's claims of prosecutorial misconduct. As the court correctly concluded, Urlacher's first claim fails because the prosecutor did not misstate the law during rebuttal. And Urlacher's second claim fails because Urlacher did not object to the alleged misconduct, and he fails to show that a curative instruction would not have obviated any prejudicial effect. Review of these issues is unwarranted. The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with *Bergen* and established case law, and nothing in Urlacher's petition raises an issue substantial public importance or a significant question of constitutional law.

1. It is well-established that a heightened standard applies when a party fails to object at trial

To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the defendant must show that the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejudicial in the context of the entire trial. *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011); *In re Det. of Sease*, 149 Wn. App. 66, 80, 201 P.3d 1078 (2009) (applying prosecutorial misconduct standard from criminal cases to SVP cases). Where, as here, the defendant failed to object at trial, he is "deemed to have waived any error, unless the prosecutor's misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice." *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-61, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). "Under this heightened standard, the defendant must show that

(1) no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury' and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that 'had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict.'" *Id.* at 761 (quoting *Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d at 455).

"Reviewing courts should focus less on whether the prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant or ill intentioned and more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured." *Id.* at 762. In analyzing prejudice, courts look at the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence, and the instructions given to the jury. *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 28, 195 P.3d 940 (2008).

2. The prosecutor did not misstate the law during rebuttal

The Court of Appeals applied well-established case law and properly concluded that the prosecutor did not misstate the law during rebuttal. As the court explained, when read in context, the prosecutor's argument was a proper statement of the law and was in response to Urlacher's argument about his proposed housing.

During rebuttal, the prosecutor referenced Urlacher's closing argument that his proposed housing is "the gold standard and you couldn't ask for anything better." RP at 1033. The prosecutor then argued that it was the jury's role to make that determination. RP at 1033-34. In doing so, the prosecutor explained that "because best interests and adequate to protect the

community are not defined in your jury instructions, you, as the trier of fact, will be the individuals who will decide amongst yourselves how you're going to decide what that means as it applies to Mr. Urlacher." RP at 1034.

Urlacher did not object to this argument. RP at 1034.

Despite Urlacher's assertions to the contrary, the prosecutor's argument did not invite jurors "to make up their own standards." See Pet. at 24. Rather, the prosecutor correctly informed jurors that it was their role to decide whether the "best interest" and "adequate to protect the community" elements were satisfied regarding Urlacher's proposed housing. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that this is a proper statement of law. Urlacher incorrectly asserts that Bergen determined that these phrases have "specific meanings." See Pet. at 26. On the contrary, Bergen concluded that it was not necessary to define these phrases as they "can be understood by persons of common intelligence and reasonably applied within the statute's intent." Bergen, 146 Wn. App. at 520, 531-34. Further, even if the prosecutor's argument was improper, an instruction could have cured any prejudice.

3. Urlacher waived any error by failing to object to the prosecutor's argument about "grooming"

The Court of Appeals also correctly rejected Urlacher's second claim of prosecutorial misconduct. As the court properly concluded,

Urlacher did not object to the prosecutor's argument about "grooming" and fails to show that a curative instruction would not have obviated any prejudicial effect.

In closing argument, Urlacher argued that he is not just "talking the talk" but is "walking the walk" and has worked hard to learn skills and change his behavior. RP at 997-1002, 1024-27. In rebuttal, the prosecutor responded that the few gains Urlacher has made are only recent and that jurors should use their common sense while deliberating and not to be "fooled by Charles Urlacher" or "subject to his grooming." RP at 1040. Urlacher did not object to this argument. RP at 1040.

The prosecutor's argument was akin to telling jurors not to be tricked or manipulated by Urlacher or misled by his testimony. It was not an improper appeal to the jury's passion or an invitation for jurors "to imagine themselves as the future child victims of a sexual offense perpetuated by Mr. Urlacher" as Urlacher asserts. Pet. at 28. However, even assuming this argument was improper, Urlacher fails to show that it was "so flagrant and ill intentioned" that an instruction could not have cured any prejudice. Relying on well-established case law, the Court of Appeals held that Urlacher fails to show that a curative instruction would not have obviated any prejudicial effect. *Urlacher*, 427 P.3d at 675. As the court properly explained, if Urlacher had objected to the statement, the trial court

could have instructed the jury to disregard the prosecutor's remark. *Id.*Moreover, the remark was brief, and the prosecutor made it in direct response to Urlacher's testimony and arguments that he was a changed man.¹⁰

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny review.